# U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's

# EMERGENCY SOLUTIONS GRANT (ESG)

# NEBRASKA HOMELESS ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (NHAP)

# **STANDARDS**



Adopted by Lincoln's Homeless Coalition June, 2013

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CONTENT	PAGE
Overview	2
General Standards	2
Participant Eligibility	2
Coordinated Assessment	3
Program Coordination	3
HMIS	5
Income Determination	5
Connection with Other Resources	5
Termination of Assistance	6
Lead-Based Paint	6
Safety, Sanitation & Privacy	6
Conflicts of Interest	8
Homeless Participation	9
Faith-Based Activities	9
Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Outreach	9
Program Income	9
Recovered Materials	9
Displacement	10
Records & Recordkeeping	11
Street Outreach Standards	13
<b>Emergency Shelter Standards</b>	14
Homelessness Prevention & Rapid Rehousing Standards	15
Eligibility	15
Participant Contribution	15
Rental Assistance Duration & Adjustment	15
Service Type, Amount & Duration	16
Re-Evaluations	19

## WRITTEN STANDARDS

Each Nebraska Homeless Assistance Program (NHAP)-funded service provider shall comply with the minimum written standards for providing assistance established by Lincoln's Continuum of Care. NHAP funding is a combination of federal Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) and Nebraska Homeless Shelter Assistance Trust Fund (HSATF) funds. As HSATF funds are used to meet the match requirement for ESG funds, services reimbursed by either source shall comply with the same requirements.

Each provider may decide to set standards on their provision of ESG that exceed these minimum standards, but will at the very least comply with the following:

#### **GENERAL STANDARDS**

#### PARTICIPANT ELIGIBILITY:

Minimum standards for evaluating individual and family eligibility for assistance under Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) are:

- **Street Outreach** People who are qualify as 'unsheltered homeless,' based on paragraph (1)(i) of the "homeless" definition found at 24 CFR 576.2 are eligible for the following activities, in compliance with federal ESG rules (24 CFR 576.101): engagement, case management, emergency health and mental health services, transportation
- **Emergency Shelter** People who qualify as 'homeless,' based on paragraphs (1, 2, 3 or 4) of the "homeless" definition found at 24 CFR 576.2 are eligible for the following activities, in compliance with federal ESG rules (24 CFR 576.102): case management; child care; education, employment and life skills services; legal services; health, mental health and substance abuse services; transportation

**NOT ALLOWABLE:** Mortgage and mortgage arrearage payments.

- **Rapid Re-housing** People who qualify as 'homeless,' based on paragraphs (1 or 4) of the "homeless" definition found at 24 CFR 576.2 and who moving into a housing unit that meets HUD's habitability and lead-based paint standards are eligible for the following activities, in compliance with federal ESG rules (24 CFR 576.104, 576.105, 576.106):
  - **Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services**: moving costs, rent application fees, security deposits, last month's rent, utility deposits, utility payments, housing search/placement, housing stability case management, mediation and legal services, credit repair/budgeting/money management
  - **Rental Assistance:** short-term (up to 3 months) and medium-term (4-24 months) rental assistance, up to 24 months total during a 3-year period in tenant-based or project-based housing
    - The 24 months may include a one-time payment for up to 6 months of rent arrears on the tenant's portion of the rent. Rent amount must meet the federal requirements for Fair Market Rent (24 CFR 888) and the HUD standard for rent

reasonableness (24 CFR 982.507). There must be a rental agreement between the landlord and agency and a written lease between tenant and landlord.

## **NOT ALLOWABLE:** Mortgage and mortgage arrearage payments.

- **Homelessness Prevention** People who qualify as 'at risk of homelessness,' based on paragraphs (2, 3 or 4) of the "homeless" definition or based on the "At risk of homelessness" definition found at 24 CFR 576.2 and who reside in a housing unit that meets HUD's habitability and lead-based paint standards and have an annual income below 30% of Area Median Income (AMI), are eligible for the following services, in compliance with federal ESG rules (24 CFR 576.103, 576.105, 576.106):
  - **Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services**: moving costs, rent application fees, security deposits, last month's rent, utility deposits, utility payments, housing search/placement, housing stability case management, mediation and legal services, credit repair/budgeting/money management
  - o **Rental Assistance:** short-term (up to 3 months) and medium-term (4-24 months) rental assistance, up to 24 months total during a 3-year period in tenant-based or project-based housing
    - The 24 months may include a one-time payment for up to 6 months of rent arrears on the tenant's portion of the rent. Rent amount must meet the federal requirements for Fair Market Rent (24 CFR 888) and the HUD standard for rent reasonableness (24 CFR 982.507). There must be a rental agreement between the landlord and agency and a written lease between tenant and landlord.

**NOT ALLOWABLE:** Mortgage and mortgage arrearage payments.

#### **COORDINATED ASSESSMENT:**

Minimum standards for centralized or coordinated assessment system are:

- Once the Continuum of Care has developed and adopted a centralized or coordinated assessment system in accordance with HUD's requirements (24 CFR Part 578) all providers within the Continuum of Care's area, except for victim service providers, shall use that assessment system.
- A victim service provider may choose not to use the Continuum of Care's assessment system.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### PROGRAM COORDINATION:

Minimum standards for program coordination consist of on-going system and program coordination and integration of ESG-funded activities to the maximum extent practicable with the following:

- a. Emergency shelter providers, essential services providers, homelessness prevention, and rapid rehousing assistance providers;
- b. Other homeless assistance providers, including:
  - Shelter Plus Care Program;

- Supportive Housing Program;
- Section 8 Moderate Rehab Program for Single Room Occupancy Program (SRO) for Homeless Individuals;
- HUD-Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (HUD-VASH);
- Education for Homeless Children and Youth Grants for State and Local Activities (McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act);
- Grants for the Benefit of Homeless Individuals;
- Healthcare for the Homeless;
- Programs for Runaway and Homeless Youth;
- Projects for the Assistance in the Transition from Homelessness;
- Services in Supportive Housing Grants;
- Emergency Food and Shelter Program;
- Transitional Housing Assistance Grants for Victims of Sexual Abuse, Domestic Violence, and Stalking Program;
- Homeless Veterans Reintegration Program;
- Domiciliary Care for Homeless Veterans Program;
- VA Homeless Providers Grant and Per Diem Program;
- Health Care for Homeless Veterans Program;
- Homeless Veterans Dental Program;
- Supportive Services for Veterans Families Program; and
- Veterans Justice Outreach Initiative
- c. Mainstream service and housing providers:
  - Public housing programs assisted under section 9 of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937;
  - Housing programs receiving Section 8 tenant based or project based assistance;
  - Supportive Housing for Persons with Disabilities;
  - HOME Investment Partnerships Program;
  - Temporary Assistance for Needy Families;
  - Health Center Program;
  - State Children's Health Insurance Program;
  - Head Start:
  - Mental Health and Substance Abuse Block Grants:
  - Services funded under the Workforce Investment Act; and
  - State Housing Related Assistance Program for Adults with Serious Mental Illness
- d. Continuum of Care (CoC) Networks:
  - Local Continuum of Care (CoC) meetings *Nebraska has seven geographic regions, each has a Local CoC;*

- Lincoln Continuum of Care meetings are held at 9:00 a.m. on the 4th Friday of each month at Cedars Northbridge Community Center, 1533 N. 27th Street, Lincoln, NE;
- Governor's Commission on Housing and Homelessness (includes provider representatives); and

Various other committees, task forces and workgroups.

# HMIS:

Minimum standards for ESG data are:

- Providers, except for victim service providers shall actively utilize the Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), to enter data on people served and assistance provided under ESG.
- Victim service providers shall actively utilize a comparable data system that meets HUD's standards (24 CFR 576.107).

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **INCOME DETERMINATION:**

Minimum standards for determination of an individual or family's annual income consist of calculating income in compliance with 24 CFR 5.609. Annual income is defined as:

- (a) *Annual income* means all amounts, monetary or not, which:
  - (1) Go to, or on behalf of, the family head or spouse (even if temporarily absent) or to any other family member; or
  - (2) Are anticipated to be received from a source outside the family during the 12-month period following admission or annual reexamination effective date; and
  - (3) Which are not specifically excluded in paragraph (c) of this section.
  - (4) Annual income also means amounts derived (during the 12-month period) from assets to which any member of the family has access.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **CONNECTION WITH OTHER RESOURCES:**

Minimum standards for connection with other resources consist of assisting each participant to obtain, if applicable:

- Appropriate support services including:
  - Permanent housing;
  - Medical health treatment;
  - Mental health treatment;
  - Counseling;
  - Supervision; and
  - Other services needed for independent living.
- Other governmental and private assistance available to help with housing stability including:
  - Medicaid;

- Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program;
- Women, Infants and Children (WIC);
- o Federal-State Unemployment Insurance Program;
- Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI);
- o Child and Adult Care Food Program; and
- Other available assistance.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **TERMINATION OF ASSISTANCE:**

Minimum standards for termination of assistance are:

- **In general** If a program violation occurs and the provider terminates assistance as a result, the termination shall follow an established process that recognizes the rights of the individuals affected. Termination shall only occur in the most severe cases.
- Program participants receiving rental assistance or housing relocation or stabilization services When terminating rental assistance or housing relocation and stabilization services, the required formal process shall minimally consist of:
  - Written notice clearly stating the reasons for termination;
  - Review of the decision that gives the participant opportunity to present objections to the decision maker; and
  - o Prompt written final notice.
- **Ability to provide further assistance** Termination will not bar the provider from providing later additional assistance to the same family or individual.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **LEAD-BASED PAINT:**

Minimum standards for all shelters and program participant-occupied housing consist of compliance with the lead-based paint remediation and disclosure requirements identified in 24 CFR 576.403, including the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 USC 4821-4846), the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act of 1992 (42 USC 4851-4856) and implementing regulations in 24 CFR part 35, subparts A, B, H, J, K, M and R.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **SAFETY, SANITATION & PRIVACY:**

Minimum standards for all shelters and program participant-occupied housing consist of compliance with the safety, sanitation & privacy requirements identified in 24 CFR 576.403, including:

## Minimum standards for emergency shelters:

Any building for which ESG funds were used for conversion, major rehabilitation or other renovation or that receives ESG assistance for shelter operations shall meet state/local government safety and sanitation standards, as well as the following:

• Structure and materials—The building must be structurally sound, protect participants from the elements and not pose any threats to their health or safety.

- Products and appliances—Any ESG funded renovation, including major rehabilitation and conversion, must use Energy Star and WaterSense products/appliances.
- Access–The shelter must comply with the applicable Rehabilitation, Fair Housing and Americans with Disabilities Acts and implementing regulations.
- Space and security–Unless it is a day shelter, it must provide appropriate places to sleep, adequate space, and security for residents and their belongings.
- Interior air quality–Each shelter room/space must have proper ventilation and be pollutant free.
- Water supply–Must be free of contamination.
- Sanitary facilities—Each participant must have access to sufficient, sanitary facilities that are in proper operating condition, private and adequate for personal cleanliness and disposal of human waste.
- Thermal environment–The shelter must have the necessary, properly operating heating/cooling facilities.
- Illumination and electricity—The shelter must have adequate and appropriate lighting and safe electrical sources.
- Food preparation—Any food preparation areas must be able to store, prepare, and serve safe and sanitary food.
- Sanitary conditions–The shelter must be in sanitary condition.
- Fire safety–Each occupied unit of the shelter must have at least one working smoke detector and when possible they should be near sleeping areas. The fire alarm system must be designed for hearing-impaired residents. All public areas must have at least one working detector and there must be a second means of exiting the building in the event of an emergency.

**Minimum standards for permanent housing** – Providers shall not use ESG funding to help someone remain or move into housing if the housing does not meet the following minimum habitability standards.

- Structure and materials—The building must be structurally sound, protect participants from the elements and not pose any threats to their health or safety.
- Space and security–Each resident must have adequate space and security for themselves and their belongings and an acceptable place to sleep.
- Interior air quality–Each room or space must have proper ventilation and be pollutant free.
- Water supply–Must be free of contamination.
- Sanitary facilities—Residents must have access to sufficient, sanitary facilities that are in proper operating condition, private and adequate for personal cleanliness and disposal of human waste.
- Thermal environment–The housing must have the necessary, properly operating heating/cooling facilities.
- Illumination and electricity—The structure must have adequate and appropriate lighting and safe electrical sources.
- Food preparation—All food preparation areas contain suitable space and equipment to store, prepare, and serve safe and sanitary food.

- Sanitary conditions—The housing must be in sanitary condition.
- Fire safety:
  - There must be a second means of exiting the building in the event of an emergency.
  - Each unit must include at least one properly working smoke detector on each occupied level of the unit, located when possible in a hallway adjacent to a bedroom.
  - o If the unit is occupied by a hearing-impaired person, smoke detectors must have an alarm system designed for hearing-impaired persons in each bedroom he or she occupies.
  - The public areas of the housing must be equipped with a sufficient number of detectors, but not less than one for each area.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST:**

Minimum standards for conflicts of interest are:

#### **Organizational conflicts of interest:**

- ESG assistance will not be contingent on the individual's or family's acceptance or occupancy of emergency shelter or housing owned by the provider or a provider's subsidiary or parent.
- No provider, with respect to individuals or families occupying housing owned by the provider or a provider's subsidiary or parent, will carry out the initial evaluation under 24 CFR 576.401 or administer homelessness prevention assistance under 24 CFR 576.103.

#### **Individual conflicts of interest:**

 When procuring goods and services, the provider will comply with codes of conduct and conflict of interest requirements under 24 CFR 84.42 (private non-profit) or 24 CFR 85.36 (government).

#### All transactions/activities:

- **Conflicts prohibited** No person involved with the ESG program or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making process or gain inside information regarding the program's activities, shall obtain a financial interest or benefit from an assisted activity; have a financial interest in any related contract, subcontract, or assisted activity; or have a financial interest in the activity's proceeds (either himself or herself or those with whom he or she has family or business ties) during his or her tenure or for one year following tenure.
- **Persons covered** These conflict of interest provisions apply to any employee, agent, consultant, officer or elected or appointed official of the provider's agency.
- **Exceptions** A provider may request an exception to these provisions from HUD, only if he or she meets the threshold requirements identified in 24 CFR 576.404.

#### **HOMELESS PARTICIPATION:**

Minimum standards for homeless participation are:

• To the maximum extent possible, the provider shall involve homeless individuals and families in paid or volunteer work on the ESG-funded facilities, in providing services under ESG and in providing services for occupants of ESG-funded facilities (24 CFR 576.405).

\_\_\_\_\_\_

#### **FAITH-BASED ACTIVITIES:**

Minimum standards for faith-based activities (24 CFR 576.406) are:

- Providers receiving ESG funding shall not engage in inherently religious activities as part of the ESG-funded programs or services. Such activities must be offered separately from ESG-funded programs and services and participation must be voluntary.
- A religious organization receiving ESG funding retains independence from government and may continue with its mission provided that ESG funds are not used to support inherently religious activities. An ESG-funded organization retains its authority over its internal governance.
- An organization receiving ESG funding shall not discriminate against a participant or prospective participant based on religion or religious beliefs.
- ESG funding shall not be used for the rehabilitation of structures used specifically for religious activities, but may be used for rehabilitating structures that are used for ESG-eligible activities.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### NONDISCRIMINATION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE OUTREACH:

Minimum standards shall comply with the requirements for nondiscrimination, equal opportunity and affirmative outreach identified in §576.407 (a-b).

#### **PROGRAM INCOME:**

Minimum standards for private non-profit organizations for program income earned during the project period are that the program income shall be retained and used to finance the non-Federal share of the project or program. Records of the receipt and use of program income shall be retained.

#### **RECOVERED MATERIALS:**

Minimum standards for the procurement of recovered materials shall comply with the requirements identified in §576.407(f), including that the recipient and its contractors must comply with Section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 CFR part 247 that contain the highest percentage of recovered materials

practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds \$10,000 or the value of the quantity acquired by the preceding fiscal year exceeded \$10,000; procuring solid waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials identified in the EPA guidelines.

**DISPLACEMENT:** Minimum standards for minimizing the displacement of persons (families, individuals, businesses, nonprofit organizations and farms) as a result of a project assisted under ESG shall comply with §576.408 and consist of:

**Minimizing displacement** – Consistent with ESG goals and objectives, the providers shall minimize displacing people as a result of ESG-funded projects.

**Temporary relocation not permitted** - No temporary relocation shall be required for an ESG-funded project. When a tenant has to move for an ESG-funded project, the tenant shall be treated as permanently displaced and offered relocation assistance and payments.

#### Relocation assistance for displaced persons -

<u>In general</u> – A displaced person shall be provided relocation assistance and advised of his or her Fair Housing Rights.

<u>Displaced Person</u> - A "displaced person" is defined as any person that moves from a permanent home as a result of ESG-funded acquisition, rehabilitation, or demolition of a project.

## A person does not qualify as a "displaced person" if the person:

- Was evicted based on a violation of the lease or occupancy agreement; violation of the law; and the recipient determines that the eviction was not undertaken to evade the obligation to provide relocation assistance.
- Moved into the property after the application was submitted but was provided with written notice that he or she would not qualify as a "displaced person."
- The person is ineligible under 49 CFR 24.2.
- HUD determines that the person was not displaced as a result of the project.

The State or the provider may request that HUD determine whether or not a displacement would be covered by this rule.

**Real property acquisition requirements** – The acquisition of real property for an ESG funded project is subject to the URA and Federal government wide regulations.

**Appeals** - A person who disagrees with the recipient's determination concerning whether the person qualifies as a displaced person, or the amount of relocation assistance may file a written appeal. A low-income person who disagrees with the recipient's determination may submit a written request for review of that determination by HUD.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **RECORDS & RECORDKEEPING:**

Minimum standards shall ensure sufficient written records are established and maintained to enable the State and HUD to determine whether ESG requirements are being met and comply with §576.500, including the following:

- Program participant records shall include written:
  - Determination and verification/certification that the program participant met the criteria for being Homeless or At Risk of Homelessness and that an effort was made to obtain written third-party verification, when possible and applicable
  - Determination and verification/certification that the program participant was <u>eligible</u> or <u>ineligible</u> for the particular services and/or financial assistance
  - o Determination and verification/certification that the program participant lacked sufficient resources and support networks to provide the assistance
  - Determination and verification/certification that the program participant met income requirements and that an effort was made to obtain written third-party verification, when possible and applicable
  - o Identification of the specific services and financial assistance amounts that were provided to the program participant
  - When applicable, verification that the services were terminated in compliance with 576.402
  - When adopted by the Continuum of Care, a copy of the CoC-approved centralized or coordinated assessment of the program participant
  - Copies of written leases and rental agreements, documentation of payments made, including dates of occupancy, and compliance with fair market rent, rent reasonableness and utility allowance requirements
  - Determination and verification that the housing unit met HUD's habitability and lead-based paint standards
  - Copy of individualized housing stability plan
  - Notes verifying case management services were provided at least monthly, unless exempt from this requirement
  - Notes verifying program participant's eligibility was re-evaluated at least every 3 months for homelessness prevention services or at least annually for rapid rehousing services
  - Notes verifying program participant was assisted to obtain necessary mainstream and other resources
- Program policies and procedures shall indicate:
  - Services are coordinated with Continuum(s) of Care, other homeless assistance/prevention programs and mainstream service and assistance programs
  - o Compliance with HUD's ESG (24 CFR 576) requirements for:
    - Shelter and housing standards

- Conflict of interest
- Homeless participation
- Faith-based activity
- Nondiscrimination, equal opportunity and affirmative outreach
- Uniform administrative rules (24 CFR part 84)
- Environmental review
- Lobbying and disclosure (24 CFR part 87)
- Displacement, relocation and acquisition
- Procurement (24 CFR 84.40-84.48)
- o Program participant records are kept secure and confidential
- o Participation in HMIS or comparable database
- Financial records shall include:
  - o Supporting documentation for all costs charged to ESG grant
  - o Documentation showing ESG funds were spent on allowable costs in accordance with the requirements for eligible activities and costs principles
  - o Documentation of the receipt and use of program income
  - o Copies of procurement contracts

#### STREET OUTREACH STANDARDS

#### **MINIMUM STANDARDS:**

#### **Targeting/Engagement:**

Providers of Street Outreach services shall target unsheltered homeless individuals and families, meaning those with a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designed for or ordinarily used as a regular sleeping accommodation for human beings, including a car, park, abandoned building, bus or train station airport or camping ground.

#### **Assessment/Service Provision/Referral/Prioritization:**

- Individuals and families shall be offered an initial need and eligibility assessment
  and qualifying program participants, including those meeting special population
  criteria, will be offered the following Street Outreach services, as needed and
  appropriate: engagement, case management, emergency health and mental health,
  transportation services.
- When appropriate based on the individual's needs and wishes, the provision of or referral to rapid rehousing services that can quickly assist individuals to obtain safe, permanent housing shall be prioritized over the provision of or referral to emergency shelter or transitional housing services.

#### **EMERGENCY SHELTER STANDARDS**

#### **MINIMUM STANDARDS:**

#### • Admission:

Providers of Emergency Shelter services shall admit individuals and families who meet the HUD definition of "homeless," as specified in 24 CFR 576.2 (1, 2, 3 & 4) and agencies' eligibility criteria.

#### Assessment:

Individuals and families shall be offered an initial need and eligibility assessment and qualifying program participants, including those meeting special population criteria, will be offered Emergency Shelter services, as needed and appropriate.

#### • Prioritization/Diversion/Referral:

When appropriate based on the individual's needs and wishes, the provision of or referral to Homeless Prevention or Rapid Rehousing services that can quickly assist individuals to maintain or obtain safe, permanent housing shall be prioritized over the provision of Emergency Shelter or Transitional Housing services.

#### Reassessment:

Program participants will be reassessed as case management progresses, based on the individual service provider's policies.

#### Discharge/Length of Stay:

Program participants shall be discharged from Emergency Shelter services when they choose to leave or when they have successfully obtained safe, permanent housing. Any Length of Stay limitations shall be determined by the individual service provider's policies and clearly communicated to program participants.

#### Safety and Shelter Safeguards for Special Populations:

Safety and Shelter Safeguards shall be determined by the individual Special Population service provider's policies and clearly communicated to program participants.

#### HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND RAPID RE-HOUSING STANDARDS

#### **ELIGIBILITY/PRIORITIZATION:**

Minimum standards for determining and prioritizing which eligible families and individuals shall receive homelessness prevention assistance and which eligible families and individuals shall receive rapid rehousing assistance are:

- **Rapid Re-housing (RR)** To be eligible for RR Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services and Short-term and Medium-term Rental Assistance, people must:
  - Meet the federal criteria under paragraph (1) of the "homeless" definition in 24 CFR 576.2 OR
  - Meet the criteria under paragraph (4) of the "homeless" definition in 24 CFR 576.2 and live in an emergency shelter or other place described in paragraph (1) of the "homeless" definition.
- **Homelessness Prevention (HP)** To be eligible for HP Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services and Short-term and Medium-term Rental Assistance, people must require HP services to prevent moving into an emergency shelter or another place described in paragraph (1) of the "homeless" definition in 24 CFR 576.2, have an annual income below 30% of the median income for the area and:
  - Meet the federal criteria under the "at risk of homelessness" definition in 24 CFR 576.2 OR
  - Meet the criteria in paragraph (2), (3) or (4) of the "homeless" definition in 24 CFR 576.2.

#### PARTICIPANT CONTRIBUTION:

Minimum standards for determining what percentage or amount of rent and utilities costs each program participant shall pay while receiving homelessness prevention or rapid rehousing assistance are:

- Participant's income shall be verified prior to approval for initial and additional financial assistance. Documentation of the participant's income and expenses, including how the participant is contributing to housing costs, if at all, shall be maintained in participant's file. This file shall also contain a plan to sustain housing following the assistance, including either a plan to increase income or decrease expenses or both.
- Any additional requirements regarding the percentage or amount of rent and utilities
  costs each program participant shall pay shall be determined by the individual service
  provider's policies and clearly communicated to program participants.

#### RENTAL ASSISTANCE DURATION AND ADJUSTMENT:

Minimum standards for determining how long a particular program participant shall be provided with rental assistance and whether and how the amount of that assistance shall be adjusted over time are:

- Participants receive approval for the minimum amount of financial assistance necessary to prevent homelessness. Documentation of financial need shall be kept in the participant's file for each month of financial assistance received. Participants shall not be approved for more rental assistance than can be justified given their income and expenses at a given time.
- Any additional requirements regarding how long a program participant shall be provided with rental assistance and whether and how the amount of that assistance shall be adjusted over time shall be determined by the individual service provider's policies and clearly communicated to program participants.

#### **SERVICE TYPE, AMOUNT & DURATION:**

Minimum standards for determining the type, amount, and duration of housing stabilization and/or relocation services to provide to a program participant, including the limits, if any, on the homelessness prevention or rapid rehousing assistance that each program participant shall receive, such as the maximum amount of assistance, maximum number of months the program participant may receive assistance; or the maximum number of times the program participant may receive assistance are:

#### • Financial Assistance:

- Use with other subsidies Payment for Financial Assistance costs shall <u>not</u> be provided to a participant who is receiving the same type of financial assistance through other public sources or to a participant who has been provided with replacement housing payments under the URA, during the period of time covered by the URA payments.
- Rental application fees Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for fees charged by the owner to all applicants.
- o **Security deposits** Payment shall <u>not</u> exceed two (2) month's rent.
- **Last month's rent** Payment shall <u>not</u> exceed one (1) month's rent and shall be included in calculating the participant's total rental assistance.
- Utility deposits Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for gas, electric, water and sewage deposits.

## Utility payments:

- Payment shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months per participant, including no more than
   6 months of utility payments in arrears, per service.
- A partial payment counts as 1 month.
- Payment shall <u>only</u> be made if the utility account is in the name of the participant or a member of the same household.
- Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for gas, electric, water and sewage costs.
- Participants shall <u>not</u> receive more than 24 months of utility assistance within any 3-year period.
- Moving costs Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for temporary storage fees accrued after the date the participant begins receiving housing relocation and stabilization services and prior to the date the participant moves into permanent housing. Payment shall <u>not</u> be made for storage fees in arrears.

#### Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services:

- Housing search and placement services Payment shall only be made for assisting participants to locate, obtain and retain suitable permanent housing through provision of the following services:
  - Assessment of housing barriers, needs and preferences
  - Development of an action plan for locating housing
  - Housing search
  - Outreach to and negotiation with owners
  - Assistance with submitting rental applications and understanding leases
  - Assessment of housing for compliance with ESG requirements for hability, lead-based paint and rent reasonableness
  - Assistance with obtaining utilities and making moving arrangements
  - Tenant counseling

Payment for housing search and placement services shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months during any 3-year period.

- Housing stability case management Payment shall only be made for assessing, arranging, coordinating and monitoring the delivery of individualized services to facilitate housing stability for a participant who resides in permanent housing or to assist a participant in overcoming immediate barriers to obtaining housing through provision of the following services:
  - Using the centralized or coordinated assessment system
  - Conducting the initial evaluation, including verifying and documenting participant eligibility
  - Counseling
  - Developing, securing and coordinating services and obtaining Federal, State and local benefits
  - Monitoring and evaluating participant progress
  - Providing information and referral to other providers
  - Developing an individualized housing and service plan
  - Conducting re-evaluations

Payment for housing stability case management services provided while the participant is seeking permanent housing shall not exceed 30 days.

Payment for housing stability case management services provided while the participant is living in permanent housing shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months.

Mediation – Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for the cost of mediation between the
participant and the owner or person with whom the participant is living, if it is
necessary to prevent the participant from losing the permanent housing where
he/she resides. Payment for mediation services shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months
during any 3-year period.

- Legal services Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for the cost of legal services, if they
  are necessary to resolve a legal problem that prohibits the participant from
  obtaining permanent housing or will likely result in the participant losing the
  permanent housing where he/she resides. Payment for legal services shall <u>not</u>
  exceed 24 months during any 3-year period.
- Credit repair Payment shall <u>only</u> be made for the cost of assisting the participant in obtaining skills related to household budgeting, managing money, accessing a free personal credit report and resolving personal credit problems. Payment will <u>not</u> be made for a debt or modification of a debt. Payment for credit repair services shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months during any 3-year period.

#### • Rental Assistance:

- o Payment shall <u>not</u> exceed 24 months total during a 3-year period in tenant-based or project-based housing.
- o Payment for short-term rental assistance shall not exceed 3 months.
- o Payment for medium-term rental assistance shall be for more than 3 months, but shall not exceed 24 months.
- Payment for rent arrears shall <u>not</u> exceed 6 months and shall be a one-time payment, including any late fees.
- Except for a one-time payment of rental arrears on the participant's portion, payment shall <u>not</u> be provided to a participant who is receiving tenant-based rental assistance or living in a unit receiving project-based assistance or to a participant who has been provided with replacement housing payments under the URA, during the period of time covered by the URA payments.
- o Payment shall <u>not</u> exceed the Fair Market Rent established by HUD (24 CFR 888) and shall comply with HUD's standard of rent reasonableness (24 CFR 982.507).
- Calculation of the rental payment amount shall <u>only</u> include monthly rent for the unit, any occupancy fees under the lease (except for pet and late fees) and if the participant pays separately for utilities, the monthly utility allowance established by the public housing authority for the area in which the housing is located.
- O Payment for shall <u>only</u> be made when there is a rental assistance agreement between the agency and the owner, which sets forth the terms under which rental assistance will be provided, including the prior requirements; a requirement that the owner provide the subrecipient with a copy of any notice to vacate given to the participant or any complaint used to commence an eviction action; and the same payment due date, grace period and late payment penalty requirement as the participant's lease.
- o Payment of any late payment penalties incurred by the agency shall <u>not</u> be claimed for reimbursement by ESG.

 Payment shall <u>only</u> be made when there is a legally binding, written lease for the rental unit between the participant and the owner, except for payment of rental arrears.

#### • Tenant-Based Rental Assistance

The rental assistance agreement with the unit owner shall be terminated without further payment if:

- o The participant moves out of the unit
- The lease terminates and is not renewed
- o The participant becomes ineligible to receive ESG rental assistance

#### • Project-Based Rental Assistance

Payment shall only be made under the following conditions:

- o The lease has an initial term of one year
- The rental assistance agreement covers one or more permanent housing units in the same building
- o Each unit covered by the agreement is only occupied by participants
- o Payment will only be made for up to 100% of the first month's rent, if the participant signs a lease and moves into the unit before the end of the month

Any additional requirements regarding the type, amount, and duration of housing stabilization and/or relocation services that will be provided to a program participant, including any limitations shall be determined by the individual service provider's policies and clearly communicated to program participants.

#### **RE-EVALUATIONS:**

Minimum standards for completing eligibility re-evaluations of individuals and families are:

#### Timing:

- <u>Homelessness Prevention</u> participants shall be re-evaluated not less than once every three months
- Rapid Rehousing participants shall be re-evaluated not less than once annually

#### **Eligibility:**

- The participant shall have an annual income that is 30 percent of median family income for the area or less, as determined by HUD; and
- The participant shall lack sufficient resources and support networks necessary to retain housing without ESG assistance.